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Dagestan: ongoing persecution of Salafis. Imam Magomednabi Magomedov Detained

Memorial Human Rights Centre (HRC) has continued to closely monitor the ongoing persecution of Salafi minority in Dagestan . The situation in Dagestan differs from that in Chechnya where an open and uncompromising campaign is underway against any manifestations of Salafi Islam. In Chechnya, that campaign appears as one of the objectives in the Chechen authorities platform, with President Ramzan Kadyrov assuming full responsibility for making it one of his priorities. In contrast, there has appeared in discrepancy in Dagestan between statements made by Dagestani President Ramazan Abdulatipov and intended at peaceful relations with followers of Salafism, considered to be non-traditional in Dagestan, and practical steps pursued by the Republic’s law-enforcement agencies. 

 ”We have got people who prefer to pray in the form that they think is more appropriate, Ramazan ABdulatiopov has repeatedly said. “Having said that, they are not contemplating any actions against the state or law. It is necessary to leave such people alone.” Dagestani President signed the bill On Preventing Extremist Activities in the Republic of Dagestan into law on April 4th, 2016 The bill, introduced to the Dagestani Parliament by the Prosecutor’s Office, considers “prevention of extremist activities” to include social, education and other measures conducted by the subject vested with the power of preventing crimes. These measures are to be aimed at liquidating the circumstances that allow for manifistations of extremist activities. Individual forms of prevention, as described in Article 11 of the Law, are: 1) legal education and awareness raising; 2) conducting talks aimed at prevention of extremism; 3) social adaptation; 4) provision of legal, socio-psychological aid; 5) drafting and implementing state or municipal-run programmes in Dagestan within the framework described above. The law does not envisage any forms of mandatory registration or oversight concerning a certain category of population. 

In real life, the law enforcement agencies have in recent years introduced the so-called “preventive registration” of the entire number of member of numerous Salafi communities in Dagestan. To make “preventive registration” possible, people who frequent Salafi mosques are detained. They are reported to poliMuslimsce stations where they are photographed, their fingerprints are taken, DNA tests are performed on them, and other steps are taken. The person who appeared on the “preventive registration” list is subject to special oversight on part of the law enforcement agencies. In effect, it means restrictions on one’s rights and liberties, including freedom to travel. Statement made by the mayor of Dagestani capital of Makhachkal on June 14, 2016, sheds light on the extent of the practice. The Mayor said, inter alia, that about 2,800 people were on the “prevention registry” in Makhachkala alone. The figure is so impressive as to prompt the Mayor to say, “If we continue along the same path, we are going to end up with all young people in the registry.” One can only imagine how many people are in the registry in Untsukulsky or Derbentsky Districts that have constantly featured in police reports on Islamic fighters. At the same time, Salafi mosques are being taken under control, and Muftis, who have not sworn loyalty to the Spiritual Organisation of Dagestan’s Muslims, are replaced and frequently imprisoned. That raises the pressure in the society and helps fighthers to recruit new gang members. 

It is important to stress that the repression is conducted in an anonymous manner and under cover, veiled by peaceful pronouncements on part of the authorities and the Spiritual Organisation. The reasons behind the hardline policies remain unclear. Obviously, Dagestani siloviki ranks include officers who are unable to perform in the circumstances other than extremist measures and state-run terror, with confrontation and crackdown on both civil and religious dissent seen as customary and even preferable. They do not accept the mere idea of a constructive dialogue between the society and the authorities. The outcome of such policies is unjustified violence, attempts to close down mosques, arbitrary tn masse detention of Muslims after Friday prayers and sentencing Imams on trumped-up charges. 

  * * *

On April 8th, 2016,  Vostochnaya mosque Imam Magomednabi Magomedov , who is also chairman of the City Imams Council, was detained in Khasavyurt . On that day, Khasavyurt imams were meeting the officials, including Khasavyurt Mayor Zaynnudin Okmazov , Deputy Mayor, the City Attorney, and the Chairman of the City Court. When the meeting, that happened at Mr. Magomedov's initiative, drew to a close, the premises were surrounded by persons who were armed and wearing masks. The commander of the armed group said they were there to detain Mr. Magomedov. When the city mayor told the commander that there was no need to capture Mr. Magomedov and promised the latter would turn up at the police station, the armed people left. Mr. Magomedov, accompanied by his lawyer, went to the Khasavyurt City Police station. The police said they would like to question him regarding the incident that had happened near the Khasavyurt City Hospital in February that year. The questioning began. A few minutes later, a group of people wearing masks entered the office, captured Mr. Magomedov and left with him. It later transpired that Mr. Magomedov was taken to the Investigative Committee's Dagestani office in Makhachkala and charged with violations of Article 205.2, Part 1, and Article 282, Part 1, of the Russian Criminal Code. The charges levelled against the Imam referred to the speech he made in the mosque on February 5, 2016  during preaches. The speech allegedly ”contained words and phrases justifying terrorism and aiming at hatred and humiliation of a person or a group of people on the basis of their religion and/or social group, i.e. representatives of the authorities and law enforcement agencies, and communists.” It is true that Imam had harshly condemned the fact that mosques were being shut down and called the state godless. Unbiased observers would also agree that the Imam did not call for terrorist activities nor did he justify terrorism.

When questioned, Mr. Magomedov declined to incriminate himself, referring to Article 51 of the Russian Constitution. On April 9th the Sovetsky District Court of the City of Makhachkala placed Magomedov in two months' custody. Mr. Magomedov's attorney said his client had no intention to escape. He also mentioned that Magomedov wast a breadwinner in a large family. However, the Court rejected the motion.

On April 10th Mr. Magomedov was severely beaten by officials in the detention centre and transferred to a detention centre in the town of Kaspiysk . It was only on April 13th when Mr. Magomedov's attorney was allowed to see his client late at night. The attorney demanded a medical investigation, and the doctor concluded there were signs of beatings on Magomedov's body. The authorities were to decide whether to open a criminal investigation into the beatings. 

Mr. Magomedov described what happened to him in a statement. He says, ”Five detention centre employees brought me into a cell. I was wearing handcuffs. They started beating me, using legs, hands, and rubber stics. They were trying to force me to stand on my knees.” Dagestan's branch of the Federal has confirmed force was used against Mr. Magomedov. The special statement said He was swearing, tried to challenge the detention centre officers and pushed them. Magomedov's behaviour caused the detention centre employees to use ”special equipment, viz. a rubber stick” against him. Mr. Magomedov was then examined by the detention centre's doctor who documented the results of the examination. Magomedov was hospitalised. In his statement, Mr. Magomedov said he could not ”stand, nor remain seated” as a result of the beatings, and feels “pain in the entire body, especially in the region of kidneys.” 

Magomednabi Magomedov's arrest is obviously linked to the outburst in Khasavyurt, dating to January 2016 . After the authorities attempted to shut down the Severnaya Mosque in Khasavyurt (both Severnaya and Vostochnaya Mosque are thought to be Salafi Muslim mosques) thousands of Muslims marched to the City Hall on February 1st . They were shouting religious slogans. Mr. Magomedov chaired the representative group who entered into negotiations with the City Hall and law enforcement agencies representatives. A compromised was reached, and the situation calmed down. (Further details of the incident are available in Russian at the Memorial HRC website.)

In late March 2016 Mr. Magomedov gave an extensive interview to a Memorial HRC monitor providing details on the Severnaya mosque events, his role in bringing about the solution and his desire to act strictly in accordance to law and cooperate with the authorities, law enforcers and Dagestan's Spiritual Organisation in order to tackle existing issues. Mr. Magomedov said, ”I support a lively dialogue with Sufi Muslims and enjoy good relations with the Republic of Dagestan's Muftiyat .”

The Memorial HRC analysts believe that the situation concerning Mr. Magomedov is to be qualified as no less than a provocation indented at destabilising the republic. Magomedov, being a leader of Khasavyurt's moderate Salafi community, has continually and publicly made clear that he stands against violence, and opposes the desire of some of the young Muslims to join the illegal armed units or move to the Middle East . That stance did help to save people's lives. Memorial HRC has issued a statement calling on the Dagestani authorities to do everything possible to avoid opening a new criminal investigation against Mr. Magomedov on trumped-up Memorial statement says that Mr. Magomedov's entire work has served to create peace in the republic. 

After Mr. Magomedov's arrest a religious council was vested with the power to run the administration of the mosque, and it is believed that former Khasavyurt Mayor Saigidpasha Umakhanov's family is behind the council. Representatives of the Vostochnaya Mosque say that there was a change in the composition of the religious council on April 25 2016 , a move conducted at the ex-mayor's initiative, and a new Imam, Mr. Gasan Magomedov was appointed. 

 * * * 

Meanwhile, massive detention of Muslims continued in spring 2016. 

On March 25th, 2016 a mass detention of the followers of Salafi mosque of Tang’im, located Vengersksy Boitstsov St., Makhachkala, took place. The Muslims, who arrived at the mosque for Friday prayers, were detained after the prayers were over. They were placed in UAZ cars and police cars and taken to local police stations where their photos and fingerprints were taken. They were then registered as followers of non-traditional Islam and released on the same day. 

On April 8th, 2016 mass detention took place in a smaller mosque in the city of Khasavyurt. The detention, that began after Friday’s prayers, was conducted in an insulting manner and sparked anger on part of the followers. They attempted to stop the police officers from putting detainees in cars. The police fired over the heads of the protesters as well as at their feet. A taxi driver who happened to be at the site, Mr. Sirazhudtin Biyarslanov , 47, was shot at and injured. Biyasutdinov was taken to the hospital in a critical condition. 

On the same day, April 8th , Sirazhutdin Datsiyev , Memorial HRC Makhachkala office employee, and Idris Yusupov , Novoye Delo newspaper correspondent, were detained. Both arrived at the Vengerskikh Boitsov St. Mosque to observe the detention of the Muslims. Police officers said Datsiyev and Yusupov were watching them doing their job. Both were taken to the police station and gave written statements. Two hours later, both Datsiyev and Yusupov were released, and the police did not seize their IDs. 

Another massive detention happened at the Vengerskikh boitsov mosque on April 15th, 2016. There were reports that up to 200 people were detained. 

Magomed Magomedov, press secretary of the Vengerskikh Boitsov mosque and public activist, was detained in Makhachkala on May 11th, 2016. Mr. Magomedov administered the mosque’s page on Facebook (over 6,000 subscribers) and maintained a good contact with the media, including Novoye Delo , a Dagestani opposition newspaper, TV Rain , and foreign journalists. Speaking to the media, Mr. Magomedov mentioned the “preventive registration” practice, criminal investigations opened against Muslims on falsified charges, and other religious rights offences. In April, Magomedov posted reports on the mosque page on Facebook, following an incident with the police. A group of police officers, who were drunk, burst into the mosque and shouted threats against the Muslims who were praying at the mosque. Mr. Magomedov had not made any extremist statements. He had condemned the terrorist attacks in Brussels in March 2016. 

Magomedov was taken to Sovetsky District police station. The attorney, provided by Magomedov's family, was denied entry. When finally the attorney was allowed to meet his client, he could see that Magomedov's arrest was dated 13 May in police records. The attorney had the police correct the date. Magomedov said his arrest appeared as an abduction. The siloviki forced him into Gazel minivan, put a plastic bag on his head and drove off in an unknown direction. While in the car, Magomedov was beaten. He was accused of talking to journalists and speaking publicly. In particular, Magomedov's interview to TV Rain was mentioned with his criticism of “preventive registration” practice. The car stopped at an unknown destination and the interrogation began. Magomedov was asked about his mobile phone PIN, but refused to give it. Then he was beaten. Afterwards, he was forced into the car once again. A heavy bag was placed on his neck and something was put into his trousers' pockets. The abductors demanded that he would say those were discovered during a search operation. They said they would take him outside the town and kill if he refused. Having said no initially, Magomedov later panicked and agreed to do as he was told. Magomedov was then taken to the Sovetsky District Police station. Despite the pressure he refused to acknowledge he owned the things that were allegedegly found on him during search. Nevertheless, Magomedov was charged under RF Criminal Code's Article 222 (illegal transfer of firearms) and Article 228 (illegal storage of narcotic drugs). Magomedov is currently under house arrest. 

Shahids from Stavropol
A strange thing happened in the Stavropol region in  April 2016 . Three persons, wearing a Shahid belt, attempted a terrorist attack in the village of Novoselitskoye, a small district centre  that had never before featured in crime news or been known to the outside world. 

While Kursky, Neftekumsky, Levokumsky district of the Stavropol region, meaning areas bodering Chechnya and Dagestan, have on many occasions seen security operations aimed at killing armed fighters, the attempt to attack a district police station in Novoselitskoye village comes as something unexpected and even mysterious. The incident in Novoselitskoye, was a source of major concern for the regional authorities, but one wonders as to the aims and motifs of the attackers. These were not on the registry of non-traditional Islam followers, nor were they suspected of having connections with the armed illegal units in the Caucasus. The action itself was more of a parody than a real terrorist attack, but it is not funny, given the fact that it has been the first ever sucide terrorist attempt in the Stavropol region. 

It is not easy to establish how the incident developed. Fortunately, the attack did not cost any human lives. Only three people, all of them the attackers, were wounded. That is probably why the media soon lost the interest in the news story and the law enforcement agencies deemed it unnecessary to keep the public up-to-date on how the investigation was going. 

A handful of versions are used as an explanation of what exactly happened. Life news TV channel, referring to eye witnesses and police officers, said that there terrorist approached the Novoselitsky District police department from different angles. When they saw people who were waiting their turn to talk to their police chiefs, the attackers got nervous for some reason. They threw grenades, aiming at the police station, and then ran in various directions. 

Kommersant newspaper proposes a different version, quoting investigation officials. An accomplice of the perpetrators drove them to the police station in his Vaz-2109 car. He dropped them there and disappeared. The three attackers were bearded men wearing long black overcoats. That arose suspicion on part of a police officer who was standing at the entrance. The officers had a closer look at the group and recognised their leader, Mr. Akayev, who had been wanted for crimes. (In reality, though, Akayev had been released from prison and paid weekly visits to the police.) The police officer then refused to let the three men in. That prompted one of them to throw a grenade in the window of the building. The police officer opened fire killing two of the attackers. The third one was wounded. He  blew up the Shakhid belt he was wearing. There was an explosion, and the man was blown into pieces. 

According to the third version, also based on police sources, all the three attackers blew themselves up and two of them managed to throw grenades. Residents of the neighbouring houses said there are at least five explosions and the last two or three of these were especially powerful. Parts of explosive devices flew across the neighbouring area leaving marks on the gates of nearby houses, but fortunately no-one was wounded. If we are to believe that three people attempted to blow themselves up simultaneously, one should keep in mind that triple suicide attacks are exceptionally rare. 

“Sources involved in the investigation” are reported to have said that the self-made explosive device was To make such an explosive device, no special skills are needed, and fighters often use them in the North Caucasus. 

Numerous eyewitnesses and experts mentioned the professional and well-informed way in which the police and local authorities acted. That allowed to avoid further casualties and eliminate the perpetrators in a quick and efficient manner. The local authorities were quick to inform the local residents, evacuate schools and kindergartens and increase security at hospitals and other institutions. If the illegal fighters decided to carry out the attack in order to test how well the Stavropol security services are prepared for such attacks - and that version was often mentioned where other possible motifs were lacking - then one could affirm that the security forces and the authorities have passed the test. 

The head office of the North Caucasus District of the Russian Investigative Committee opened a criminal investigation into the crime under Article 317 (Enroachment on the Life of an Officer of a Law-Enforcement Agency) of the Russian Criminal Code.

Those killed were soon identified as Dagestan residents from the neighbouring village of Kitayevskoye, Zaur Akayev, 32; Ramazan Khaibullayev, 24, and Isai Abdulatipov, 20. Their backgrounds, as far as one can judge from the details in the media, speak for themselves. All the three were recently released from imprisonment. Mr. Akayev, who was the oldest in the group, had served a long sentence for having allegedly murdered either his wife’s ex-husband or his sister’s husband. Those circumstances led to the emergence of a version saying that what happened near the police station was a matter of a criminal offence rather than a terrorist attack. Akayev, according to that version, wanted to personally avenge one of the police officers that had put him behind bars. After serving his prison sentence, Akayev came back to his native village to live with his mother. Once a week he had to arrive to the district centre police for a local police officer to register him, a usual practice that was due to a restriction on his liberty for the period of three years. It was exactly on the day when the terrorist attack happened when Akayev was supposed to come to the police station to confirm his wherebouts, as usual. But he was not allowed in for some reason. He usually used the entrance leading to his district officer’s office. Having been refused entry, he decided to force his way through the main entrance and detonated an explosive device. Whatever the circumstances, there is a strong argument against that version: it is a very unusual way of avenging injustice by blowing yourself up. 

As the investigators were looking for other explanations, the religious motive naturally prevailed. However, the attacker’s allegeince to radical Islam has not been confirmed by any evidence. The attackers were members of a Muslim community in the neighbouring village of Dolinskoye where they visitted for prayers regularly. They went to Novoselinskoye right after morning prayers. Life television station said that according to the investigative agencies, Zaur Akayev had repeatedly mentioned his desire to go to an Arabian country to study “pure” Islam. (35)

26 Region, a local TV station said that Abbas Magomedov, an imam of the mosque, or rather a room for prayers in a private house, in a neighbouring village of Chernolesskoye (a village with a large Dagestan Community, about 30% of the total population of 5,500 people) (36), disappeared immediately after the terrorist attack.  However, both the Stavropol Region muftiyat and the Novoselitsky District administration had categorically denied Magomedov's possible involvemnt int the crime. District administration head Vladimir Antonenko said that the local mosque was “functioning as usual... No-one has neither detained nor arrested anyone. Imam is doing his job fine.” (37) Spiritual Department of Muslims of the Stavropol Region has posted a number of articles on the life of the Chernollesky Muslim Community and Imam Magomedov. It shows local Muslims engaged in sports, rope pulling, doing chinups, studying Muslim ethics, etc. (38)

 Taken as a whole, too many mistakes committed by attackers most likely point to organisers and perpetrators without any extremism or terrorism experience or contacts with underground armed units in the North Caucasus or, for that matter, in Syria. The experts who believe that Novoselitksy terrorists joined the Islamic terrorist movement single-handedly (so called “self-recruitment”) seem to be closer to the truth. Some experts, though, went as far as to teach the terrorists the basics of their art. For example, United Russia Duma MP Franz Klintsevich explained the failure of the attackes in the following way: “Under no circumstances should they [the attackers] have first  open fire and later blow themselves up.” (40)

It is not known whether the attackers had any accomplices. Stavropol's 26 Region TV station has reported that the regional law enforcement agencies began search for the VAZ-2109 car with bearded driver and passengers. Life website reported on April 12 that the car had been located and the man in the car, Ibragim Dzhamalutdinov, 39, had been detained. No further details were provided (41). 

* * *

On the night of 15 April, 2016, just a few days after the Novoselitsky terrorist attack, another incident took place in the Stavropol region. Two unknown people driving Lada Priora car were stopped for document check by police and FSB officers at the village of Sernovodsdkaya, Kursky District. Those in the car suddenly fired at the siloviki and threw hand grenades. The siloviki returned fire. Both attackers were killed while siloviki were not injured. The attackers were identified as Astemir Besleneyev, born 1975, and Rashid Ustarkhanov, born 1967 (42). Some experts said both of them had connections to Novoselitksy Shahids. 

* * * 

There is strong evidence in favour of the version that sees connections between the attackers in Novoselitsky and their recent imprisonment. The elder attacker, Akayev, was released a few months before and isolated himself from the society. The neighbours said he was rarely seen walking in the streets or talking to other people (43). 

It has been noted before that imprisonment often pushes young Muslims towards radicalism with Islamism looking attractive for certain prison inmates (44). Islam is quick to spread in penitentiary institutions. In the past several years, it has sometimes overcome previous customs prevailing among inmates. Muslim djamaats are dxeeply consolidated and do not fear to challenge criminal hierachy even in the so-called “black” prison zones. A neologism, a “green zone,” has emerged, denoting areas with informal Muslim control over prisoners. (45) Kommersant newspaper has quoted a recent Matrosskaya Tishina detention centre inmate as saying, “Dzjamaat is both physical protection and protection against degradory customs. Islam allows their [prison inmates'] reconciliation with the reality and remain human. It is not necessarily a question of being recruited into illegal units or other law violations. Prison djamaats's level of consolidation is suprising. For a Muslim to become a part of a djamaat might be the only ways of preserving his Islamic identity. (46)

The Russian penitentiary service has acknowledged the problem. FSIN has issued a long statement foillowing media publications on the issue of Islamists recruits in Russian prisons and colonies. FSIN has cited the following figures. As of December 2015,  out of a total of 644,237 prison inmates. a little over 800 prison inmates were in the “preventive registry” as “studying or propagandising or preaching or circulating Islamists ideology.” FSIN say, “Targeted preventive measures are underway, tailored to concrete situations. A complete oversight is ensured. Their letters are inspected. Talks are given to them describing criminal and administrive liability for involvement in extremist activities and distribution of banned materials.” (47) FSIN representatives have stated that their officers have prevented “radically-oriented” inmates' attempts to create religious communities and force their cellmates to subscribe to their ideology. Preventive measures are employed, targeted at those persons, while Islamists communities that are about to be formed are destroyed by placing inmates in different cells. Those inmates are subject to a more thourough oversight and control and “ethical, spiritual and educational events” are arranged for them. Meanwhile, FSIN has striven to co-operate with local Muslim spiritual deparments and take over the control over prison inmates' religious lives. Thus, there are 61 mosques and 230 rooms for prayer in detention centres and prisons. Over 230 Muslim communities are active in prisons, uniting about 9,000 Muslims. FSIN statement has mentioned that Muslims are not denied opportunities to practice their religion, although they must do it according to prison schedule. Also, they are able to buy Khalyal food in prison shops. (48)
Ramzan Kadyrov Remains Chechen President 

The news comes as no surprise. No doubts have been allowed about who is in charge over those years. However, in early 2016 a formal reason to entertain doubts emerged. Ramzan Kadyrov's term in office was to expire in April 2016. the fact provoking an intriguing question of whether Russian President Vladimir Putin was planning to propose Kadyrov as a presidential candidate for the September election. Public opinion connects a long chain of shocking incidents and crimes that serve to discredit the Russian authorities with the Chechen leadership. That is why some observers were speculating about the Kremlin's intention to get over it firing the president of the Chechen republic. However, the prevailing expert opinion proved truer. President Vladimir Putin refrained from radical steps. 

Nevertheless, the Russian President deemed it necessary to make known his own annoyance over some of Ramzan Kadyrov’s actions. However, the message was not powerful and most Russians remained unaware of it.  The decisive meeting between Russian and Chechen Presidents had been postponed several times and took place as late as 25 March, a few days before the deadline for Vladimir Putin’s appointment of acting Chechen President. Meeting with Putin, Ramzan Kadyrov quoted social, economic and criminal data in Chechnya and summed it up saying, “All in all, the situation we have is excellent.” In his turn, President Putin presentd lavish compliments to KAdyrov but also noted the “need to closer coordinate the work with the federal agencies, especially as far as security is concerned.”  The hint is transparent in the context of an ongoing conflict between Kadyrov and his entourage and the federal siloviki officers. Next, Putin stressed the need to @do everything possible to follow Russian laws in all spheres of life, I emphasise, in all spheres of our life.” (49) That remark is also quite clear against the backdrop of Kadyorv’s stance towards the civili society. Many observers also pointed to an unexpected utterance made by Putin, “Both you and the future leader of the [Chechen] Republic,” probably marking a possibility that someone else might become the Chechen President. 

President Putin’s remarkable speech was given the widest possible audience, a so-called Presidential Hotline, a live phone-in television programme with Putin answering questions from the viewers. During the show aired on 16 April, 2016, journalist Sergei Dorenko posed a question, most likely, previously approved by the Presidential staff, about recent attacks on Russian opposition. He mentioned the incident with Mikhail Kasyanov whose picture was posted on Ramzan Kadyrov’s Instagram account in gun sights. Although Dorenko’s question did not specifically refer to Chechnya or Kadyrov, President Putin unexpectedly moved on to the Chechen President: “Yes, I see who you mean. You mean one of our Caucasus regions head, I see. I have discussed it with him personally.” Then President Putin proceeded to call on the audience to show leniency. “What does the reality look like? Who is the man you are referring to?.. Yes, he is currently the leader of one of the regions, the Chechen Republic. But where did he begin? He was fighting us in the woods. Haven’t you forgot? He was armed and was fighting against us, along with his father whom no-one made [to fight]…” Putin continued to say that Kadyrov’s stance had since changed radically and he was now ready to die for Russia. Finally, Putin asked to keep in mind how “hot-minded” people from the Caucasus were. Putin’s conclusion was quite mild: “We’re all human. All of us have left our past behind. But I do hope that the Chechen leader and other Russia’s regions leaders would consider their responsibility towards the populations of their territories and Russia as a whole. That might lead to an understanding that extreme actions or sayings aimed at certain opponents do not help maintain stability in our country. On the contrary, it means damage to the stability.” (50) 
That wast about it. The Kremlin did not master more courage to do or say anything else in connection to the President Kadyrov and his entourage's actions, something that might have cost at least a resignation to any other Russian officials. It is not suprising then that the Chechen leader, who had displayed certain restraint before the meeting with President Putin, felt cheered up and continued in the similar veen while the Kremlin resumed the tradition of not responding to Kadyrov's exploits. It is likely that Putin relies on the mantra that Kadyrov has repeated for many years: “I assure Vladimir Vladimirovich [Putin] that we are ready and able to break through any siege and nail down any enemy of our motherland, Russia, whoever the enemy might be, wherever he finds himself. Your infantry are all set to act on any fighting order twenty-four hours a day.” (51)

Stories from Chechnya's daily life follow in the next four sections of the bulletin. 

Chechnya: burnt houses, abductions, public confessions 

In keeping with the previous years, the Chechen Republic authorities have sworn allegience to the principleof colletive responsibility and punished the family of alleged or real illegal armed units members. 

In the morning of 9 May Shamil Zhanaraliyev, 27, and Akhmetd Inalov, 25, approached the checkpoint at the outskirst of the village of Alkhan-Kala, Grozny Rural District. Dzhanaraliyev blew himself up wounding four Bashkiriya Interior Ministry officers who were assigned to Chechnya. Four of them were seriously injured and taken to intensive care units of the local hospital. Inalov tried to seize firearms from one of the policemen and was shot and killed. It is assumed that the attackers were planning to get into Grozny in order to commit a terrorist act during  the Victory Day celebrations in the city centre.

Following the incident Presdient Kadyrov posted a lengthy tirade on his Instagram page. He promised that “the fight against those scoundrels will be uncompromising. We would not tolerate even a sight of those in Chechnya. We will not allow even outside similarity to those gangsters.” In the same post, Kadyrov said that “competent Interior Ministry and other agencies officers are to conduct raids and take other preventive measures. The prevention aimed at those bastard is going to be harsh and they are going to feel it.” (52)

The harsh preventive measures commenced on the night of 11 May when houses of attaackers in the Kirov Village (part of Grozny) were burnt down by unknown people wearing masks. The families were left without roofs over their heads. Meduza internet website correspondent Ilya Azar tried to talk to local residents but, as might have been expected, met a wall of silence. All of them have maintained “it was just a fire”  (53). Azar was soon detained by the police and literally expelled from the Chechen republic. 

* * *

The prevention practice described above is aimed at scaring people. Because it falls outside the legal framework, the media never report on it, while rumours serve to further frighten potential victims.

Yet another way of “prevention” has become widespread, aimed at a different part of the society, viz. those who speak up independently and in public. The statements in question do not necesseraly amount to criticism of the authorities. A hint at crossing the authorisied ideological bounderies, though, is enough to feel a wide range of repercussions. In the best-case scenario, the victim is publicly accused of numerous sins and has to personally apologise to the Chechen President. The public apology gets media coverage, but what has preceeded it is not, with that part of the story being of utmost importance. More often than not, someone expected to apologise gets kidnapped and then “preliminary work” is performed on him.

In the worst-case scenario a criminal investigation is opened against a person displaying too much of independent thinking. He or she may be subjected to torture or get killed.

The most notorious example of how the process looks like is represented by Ruslan Kutayev’s abduction followed by a court verdict. Ruslan Kutayev, who holds a PhD and is a Chechen public figure, organised a research conference without a sanction from the authorities. The conference was devoted to an anniversary of Stalin’s deportation of the Chechen and Ingush peoples and took place on 18 February 2014. The date becomes important because a few years ago the day of remembrance was moved from 23 February to 10 May. From 2011 onwards it is officially marked as “The Day of Remembrance and Mourning of the Peoples of the Chechen Republic” and falls on the day of the burial of Akhmat-Khadzhi Kadyrov, current President’s father, who died in the 9 May 2004 terrorist attack. Both 23 February and 10 May were being marked initially, but starting in 2013 the day of 23 February is celebrated as the “Fatherland Defenders’ Day” like elsewhere in Russia and the mourning is to be held on 10 May, with no debate over the dates tolerated. Ruslan Kutayev was indicted on charges of illegally possessing illicit drugs and sentenced to three years and ten months in prison.

The events marking the Day of Remembrance and Mourning of the Peoples of the Chechen Republic took place on 10 May 2016. Representatives of the Chechen leadership, Russian Duma MPs, teologians, municipal chiefs and other officials went to visit Akhmat Kadyrov’s grave in the village of Tsentoroy, Kurchaloy District. They laid flowers to the Kadyrov Monument at the Glory Memorial in Grozny, while in the towns and villages in Chechnya numerous other commemorative events took place.

* * *
31 March and 1 April 2016 were marked by the abduction of three persons who were captured by the siloviki at their homes. These were the poet Khusein Betel’geriyev, a member of the Russian Writers’ Union, and two other writers, Rizvan Ibragimov and Abubakar Didiyev, all three bearing no resemblence to each other.

Khusein Begel’geriyev, 63, graduated from the Foreign Languages Institute in Almaty, Khazastkhan, in 1978. He lived in France from 2004 to 2007 and later taught French to Chechen State University students from 2007 till 2015. He became head of the foreign languages department in December 2013 but later resigned his post for uknown reasons and left the university. As a musician and poet, Begel’geriyev prefers lyrical ballads, mostly in Chechen. A large part of his repertoire is devoted to national traditions and national liberation. One of Begel’geriyev’s songs, entitled “Free Ichkeria”, containes a passage looking forward to the day when Chechnya becomes free. This may look likes the author hints that Chechens do not enjoy freedom at the current moment. Another song, “Empires are just temporary” contains a reminder to Russia that all despotic regimes inevitably meet their end and “no Third Rome” is ever to be established.
Novaya Gazeta journalists say that the music of one of Begel’geriyev’s ballads was written to a poem by Zelimkhan Yandarbiyev, the second President of the Chechen Republic
. Whatever the case, Mr. Begel’geriyev was part of the Chechen beau monde and often spoke at official forums or on public television
and his articles often appeared in literary magazines.

It is not known what was behind Begel’geriyev’s abduction. It is possible that he displayed too much free thinking in his songs. Another possibility might be conncted to critical comments that Begel’geriyev frequently posted on social networks. Another reason might be his reluctance to appear at a public rally devoted to the anniversary of the Chechen constitution on 23 March. Any of the reasons above would suffice as a ground for abduction and criminal charges. Begel’geriyev was abducted near his home in the Kalinin Village, Grozny, at around 5pm on 31 March. His wife Karima said that two unidentified persons wearing black uniform arrived at his house. Begel’geriyev entered their car with no signs of being pushed inside. The car drove off, and in fifteen minutes’ time Begel’geriyev’s mobile phone became unaccessible. There was no further contact with him.
 Karima Begel’geriyeva officially reported her husband’s disappearence to the local police on 2 April. On 4 April the Chechen Prosecutor’s Office requested the Investigative Committee in Chechnya to engage in a more active search for Begel’geriyev saying that “Begel’geriyev’s disappearence resonated with the public because he is an important member of the creative ingelligentsia.” 
 On the same day the Investigative Committee in Chechnya confirmed it was investigating the reports concerning Begel’geriyev’s abduction going as far as to cite Kavkazsky Uzel website.

On 11 April 2016 Khusen Begel’geriyev reappeared at his home. What happened to him in the previous two weeks is unknown. Mr. Begel’geriyev refused to talk to human rights defenders or journalists. According to one account, there were marks on his body indicating possible beating.
 Memorial HRC officially requested further information from the Chechen Prosecutor’s Office. In its reply,
 the prosecutors said: “When interrogated about the circumstances of the case, Mr. Khusein Begel’geriyev stated that he had gone to the town of Nazran, the Republic of Ingushetia, and spent a few days there. Mr. Begel’geriyev added that no attempts at illegal action against him had been made.”

* * *

On 1 April 2016, Rizvan Ibragimov and Abubakar Didiyev were abducted. They are writers and amateur historians exploring issues in linguistics and history. Both preach the exclusive character of the Chechen ethnic community and language; both have anti-Semitic inclinations. They have been publishing articles and books for a number of years. They were the people behind the now-defunct Nohchidu.com. 
 Ibragimov recently gave a talk at the Al Mustafa Islamic University at Qom.
 Ibragimov and Didiyev theorise that some of the heroes mentioned in Islamic religious books, including prophet Muhammed and his followers, were of Chechen origin, the fact supposedly proved by the Chechen demonym, Nokhchi (’Noah’s sucessors’). These views are far from being widely accepted, for which, according to both writers, Jews are to blame. Jews are also responsible for some of the tragedies in Chechen history, including the first and second Chechen wars, the writers say. The books produced by R. Ibragimov, Poslaniye o narodye nokhchi (’An Epistle Concerning the People of Nokhchi’), 2014; Tayny rodoslovnoy prorokov (’Mysteries of Prophets’ Geneology’), 2013, Skritaya istoriya prorokov (’Revealing Prophets’ History’), an e-book, provide further details of their theories. The writers, though, have refrained from calls for violence and were careful not to offend the Chechen authorities.
 According to a local TV journalist, who surveyed local bookshops and talked to shop owners, Ibragimov and Didiyev’s writings were in high demand and copies of their books were frequently sold out.

Ibragimov’s book had repeatedly been criticised by the authorities of the Chechen Republic, including on the Chechen television. Speaking to R. Ibragimov in autumn 2014, the speaker of the Chechen Parliament, Mr. D. Abdurakhmanov said he would ban the books because of their anti-Semitic escapades and phrases about Chechens as a chosen people.
 The authorities were particularly annoyed by the writers’ attempts at alternative theological explanations
 that radically differ from traditional interpretations of the Quranic texts. Earlier the amateurish attempts at writing history were a purely local matter. However, Ibragimov’s lecture in Qom, an ideological centre of Shi’a Islam, made their writings part of a religious conflict between Iran and Saudi Arabia. The latter is of special importance to the Chechen leadership, not limited to its significance for the Hajj pilgrimage. Saudi Sheikhs could hardly be expected to welcome the discovery of the ethnic origins of prophet Muhammed and his followers.

Nevertheless, Rizvan Ibragimov and Babubakar Didiyev were invited to a confrence on the ethnic origin of the Chechen people that took place on 28 March. The texts written by Ibragimov and Didiyev were critised by other conference participants, but within the academic discourse. Two days later, Ibragimov and Didiyev were detained by unknown persons. Novaya Gazeta reported that their families refused to confirm that Ibragimov and Didiyev had been detained. The families acknowledged that both were taken away and added that there was “nothing to worry about.” Both men’s fate remained unknown till 5 April when Ibragimov and Didiyev made an appearance at an event organised by Ramazan Kadyrov and attended by Chechnya’s academics and spiritual leaders. The video shows both men rising and apologising for their “mistakes.”
 Here are the comments on the conference left by President Ramzan Kadyrov on his Instagram page on 6 April: “The fact that Rizvan Ibragimov and Abubakar Didyev’s works are groundless has been proved by an analysis performed by a commission and in a free discussion. Both writers have publicly acknowledged that their books are not informed by science. These self-styled ’theologians’ do not have basic religious education. They conveyed their apology to Chechnya’s research community and clerics.”

A day earlier, on 5 April, the following message appeared on R. Ibragimov’s Facebook page, basically confirming that he had been illegally detained and held in custody by police officers, and adding that he fully agreed with their action: “No-one kidnapped me. They just held me for fear I might disappear. Today we had a talk with the Head of the Chechen Republic Ramzan Kadyrov after which Abubakar Didiyev and I were released. No violence was used against us.”
 Later, this Facebook post was deleted.

Trouble at Khenkhi, Chechnya

Compared to the stories above, one can only congratulate Ramazan Zhalaldinov of his luck. He was a guinea pig experiencing a variety of methods used to fight dissent in Chechnya. His property was destroyed, he was publicly humiliated and received threats. Importantly, the widespread practice of setting houses on fire was used for the first time against a person not suspected of being a member of illegal armed unit or terrorist or extremist cell. Suprisingly though, the story had a happy end, at least for Zhalaldinov’s fellow-villagers.

The story that created an uproar across Russia in spring 2016 revolves around a small village Khenkhi in the Sharoy District of the Chechen Republic, a place little known to the outside world. The area where the village is located was officially separated from the Shatoy District in 2000. Khenkhi is an old village in Chechnya, originally established by the Charoy teip. Later in belonged to Khekhoi teip that separated itself from Charoy. After the Chechen deportation, representatives of a minor branch of Avars, Chamaly, were transferred to the territory in 1944. Currently, most residents regard themselves as Avars. They represent a majority of the village population, although Chechens also reside in the village. The economy is based on agriculture, including growing plants, animal farming, horticulture, and beekeeping.
 While the village is small compared to other Chechen villlages, it has a population of 1,552 people (2010 census)
 being the most populous in the Sharoy District (totalling just over 3,000 residents). The village consists of a number of small khutors scattered along the river Khenkhi valley for 8—10 kilometres and is connected to the rest of the republic by a road going along the river. That is why Khenkhi is considered to be “the most distant” locality in Chechnya.

The row began in April 2016 when Chernovik, a weekly Dagestan-based newspaper, posted a 10-minute video on its website. The video was recorded by Ramazan Dhzlaldinov, a Khenkhi resident, and was addressed to Russian President ahead of the “hotline,” Vladimir Putin’s televised Q&A session with the Russian people scheduled to take place on 16 April. The video that never made it to the programme describes Khenkhi as partially destroyed following the Second Chechen War and freshets. In Dzhalaldinov’s video, a system of bribes is described surrounding compensation for the property destroyed during the war. Numerous complaints to the local authorities were of no avail, Dzhalaldinov says. He also points out delays in salary payments to local teachers. Destruction in the village is shown in the video. The film is a wild mix of issues, and one has trouble understanding the problems identified by Dzhalaldinov and what he wants the authorities to do to tackle them.

In a display of foresight, after making his video public Dzhalaldinov left the Chechen Republic for Dagestan. A few days later he produced another video, addressed this time to Chechnya’s President Ramazan Kadyrov. Similar to his first video the statement made by Dzhalilov was hardy comprehensible, but this time around he named names of the officials who were allegedly engaged in wrong-doing on the local level, including Sharoy District administration head and District Mufti.

The second video drew an immediate response from the Chechen authorities. A day after the video appearead, the Chechen President’s head of staff, Islam Kadyrov, arrived at Khimoi village, the capital of the Sharoy District. The Chechen television broadcast a story about Khenkhi. In it, local residents denied Dzhalaldinov’s statement and called him a liar. Unofficially, a search for Dzhalaldinov began in Dagestan. Moskovskiy Komsomolets newspaper reported that unidentified persons attempted to kidnap Dzhalaldinov near a Dagestani mosque, but local residents fought back and helped Dzhalaldinov to escape. 
 A TV Rain correspondent found Zhalaldinov hiding in his friends’ flat in Makhachkala. “They are looking for me in Kizlyar. They are looking for me in Makhachkala,” Dzhalaldinov told TV Rain.

On 6 May Ramazan Kadyrov made a visit to Khenkhi and met local residents. Kadyrov promised to renovate the village and the rest of the Sharoy District. Impressed by the beuaty of the highland village and its surroundings as well as ancient towers nearby, Kadyrov said he would turn it into a prominent tourist destination.

On 13 May during the night Dzhalaldinov’s family house (15 ulitsa Kadyrova, Khenkhi) was burnt down. It was reported that the fire broke out at around 3am. The house, built of stone bricks, was not destroyed completely, however, thanks to the “efforts of the fire brigade, although some of the residential property received considerable damage.”
 Dzhalaldinov family members that include his mother and three teenage daughters were taken to the Sharoy District Police Station. The police strived to find out Dzhalilov’s whereabouts and reserved to threats. Speaking in Dagestan at the news conference organised by the Chernovik newspaper, Dzhalilov’s eldest daughter gave details of police officers threating the family with firearms, firing shots near their heads, attempting to push them from a mountain, or just humiliating.
 Their passports and other documents were seized. They were taken to the border dividing Chechnya and Dagestan and told never to set foot in Chechnya again. Dzalaldinovs’ property remained in the house. The investigation also revealed the fact that the house itself was not Dzhalaldinov’s property but belonged to a Kizlyar resident (Dagestan) Abdulkhan Magomayev, from whom it was rented by Dzhalaldinov.
 Thus both Dzhalaldinov family and a person not connected to the story suffered as a result of the fire.

The village itself was sieged by the siloviki and no-one was allowed entry. Special care was taken not to allow Moscow-based media access to the village, and a TV Rain correspondent put in a great deal of effort to arrive at the village during the night via secret roads in what looked like as a spy film. The correspondent talked to local residents who supported Dzhalaldinov.
 TV Rain reported that police detained Magomed Sharipov, a taxi driver who helped the television crew get to the village, and Dzhanmirza Alidibirov and Khisbula Akhmedov, two locals who agreed to speak to the reporters.

The Chechen Invcestigative Committee said law-enforcement agencies interrogated over 140 residents in connection with the fire in Khenkhi, all of whom, Grozny-Inform news agency reports, “deny what their fellow-villager says.” The investigators said that “it was impossible to interrogate Ramazan Dzhalaldinov and his family members”,
 probably due to the fact that the abduction of his family and murder threats do not amount to a proper interrogation.

Chechen President’s press secretary, A. Karimov, later denied the siege of Khenkhi had ever happened.
But the story made headlines in some of the federal media and the central authorities could not afford to remain silent. Vladimir Putin’s press secretary Dmitry Peskov said, “If that episode did take place, then it is up to the law enforcement agencies to respond immediately.”

The story had all chance of ending like the rest of the incidents with public complaints or criticism of the Chechen authorities. Dzhalaldinov did penance in Makhachkala
 which could only mean that Chechen siloviki’s efforts to locate him proved successful. Ramzan Kadyrov generously accepted Dzhalaldinov’s apology
 and on 31 May Dzhalaldinov made a return to his native village, to be met by local residents grateful for Kadyrov’s ability to sort things out. Kadyrov, in his turn, promised a subsidy to be paid to Dzhalaldinov’s family.

It will now be appropriate to explore the Ramazan Dzhalaldinov’s figure, a source of much controversy in Chechnya. Mutually exclusive opinions have been heard. In the federal media in Russia, for example, Dzhalaldinov is often represented as a champion of truth, a lonely hero ready to challenge all-powerful Ramzan Kadyrov. Chechen media launched a campaign of harassment against Dzhalaldinov. His neighours and fellow-villagers denounced him. Representatives of the Chechen authorities and those connected to the authorities had called him a “habitual offender” and “inadequate maniac,”
 among other things. His earlier indictments were made public. Indeed, the Shagoy District Court archive has a record saying that R. A. Dzhalaldinov received a five years’s suspended sentence for Use of Violence against a Representative of the Power endangering the latter’s life or health (Article 318, Part 2, of the Russian Criminal Code),
 but no details are available on the court’s website. Kheda Saratova, a pro-government Chechen human rights defender, says that Dzhalaldinov was found guilty of beating a police officer. According to Saratova, Dzhalaldinov made several blows to a police officer’s skull with a hammer.
 Shatoy Interdistrict Prosecutor’s Office brought charges against Dzhalaldinov in October 2012. The trial was held at the same court in Shatoy.
 Following several postopened hearings the court finally reached its verdict on 3 February 2013. Dzhalaldinov was sentenced to three years in prison.
 Chechnya’s Investigative Commitee said that Dzhalaldinov had another suspended sentence back in 2007. It is impossible to check whether it is true because the electronic archive on the Shatoy court website covers the period from 2010 onwards. Formally, then, there are grounds to say that Dzhalaldinov committed crimes repeatedly. This substantiates the version offered by Ramzan Kadyrov, namely, that Dzhalaldinov set fire to his family’s house.

Dzhalaldinov is far from being eloquent, making it hard to see the target of his criticim. However, the following picture has emerged. Many houses in Khenkhi, including Dzhalaldinov’s one, were destroyed in a devastating freshet in summer 2002. Dzhalaldinov and hundreds of other Khenkhi residents were denied compensations owing to their renunciation of their Chechen registration during the wars. It is a matter of fact that lots of Avars renunced their Chechen registration and obtained registration in the neighbouring Dagestan while continuing to reside at Khenkhi. Dzhalaldinov sent letters of complaint demanding compensations for the destroyed property. He later covered a wide scope of topics in his complaints including harassment of Avars, bad school education and what he saw as prevalence of Chechens in schools, wrong-doing on part of local authorities and religious leaders, and other subjects.

Objective data (media reports published before the controversy and official data by the Chechen agencies) do little to support the image painted by Dzhalaldinov. Here is an extract from a report on the Grozny News Agency website, dated summer 2014: “Like other highland villages, Kenkhi has been electrified. The automobile road has been renovated. The central mosque has been renovated as well, allowing it to receive up to 750 men at a time. A paramedical office is functioning. There is also a sports hall and a playing ground. Two smaller mosques and a medrese were built for 60 people. Two libraries and a centre for Avar culture have been opened.”

In the village there are three schools but no pre-school centres. There are no hospitals — which is also true for the rest for the Sharoy District. A paramedic receives patients in the village, while specialised healthcare, including the use of high technologies, is available at the Shatoy Hospital that also provides medical aid to the Itum-Kalinsky District, another sparsely populated mountainous region.

Of major importance to the village is the automobile road because the area lies at a long distance from other localities and is cut from the rest of the world by high mountains. However, the circumstances have not favoured road traffic in the village. The road is affected by avalanches in winters, freshets in springs, and landslides following rains in summers. That disturbs road traffic, damages the road and bridges and brings additional problems to road construction services. Kenkhi and other mountainous regions had often featured in emergency reports by the Chechen Road Ministry. 

There are no gas pipelines at Khenkhi or other parts of the Sharoy District. The main heating fuel is wood that is brought from other regions, usually from the valley areas or areas at the foot of the mountains. Colder seasons therefore have always meant trouble to the local residents.

Dzhalaldinov’s video address had an unexpected outcome. Visiting Kenkhi on 6 May Ramzan Kadyrov declared 2016 “the year of the Sharoy District.” He tasked his staff to “come up with a principled and quality-based approach to work... so that the needs of the local population are better attended to and a fruitful dialogue is established.” Kadyrov promised to employ all available resources to renovate the district. Kadyrov’s speech was a mere improvisation as the media had never said a word about the “year of the Sharoy District” until Dzhalaldinov’s video created an uproar; neither had it specifically been mentioned in the Law on the Budget of the Chechen Republic for the Year 2016.

Chechen Minister of Agriculture Musa Dadayev was appointed head of the Sharoy District Reconstruction Staff. Work has begun on building a kindergarten and a house of culture and two sporting grounds. Building materials are provided to those who applied. The bank of the river is being reconstructed.
 Dadayev briefed the Chechen President on the first results of a full-scale reconstruction effort on 8 June.
 There had been a change in the district leadership as well. Speaking at the big meeting of the Chechen Government on 13 May Ramzan Kadyrov acknowledged that “over the last period the district development halted” (99) 
replacing district head R. Musalov and the head of the local Interior Ministry
The sacking of those officials probably means that corruption allegations made by Dzhalaldinov have proved to be (partially) true.

This was a positive outcome, but the story is far from a happy end, keeping in mind the crimes against Dzhalaldinov’s family members – and the perpetrators of these are likely to remain impune.

Attacks on Human Rights Activists and Journalists in Ingushetia and Chechnya

An unprecedented attack on journalists and human rights activists took place on 9 March 2016 on the territory of the Republic of Ingushetia just hundreds of metres from the border with Chechnya, nearly coinciding with the attack on the office of the United Mobile Group of Human Rights Defenders in the village of Yandera, Ingushetia. The victims of the attack included both Russian and foreign nationals, Øystein Windstad (Ny tid, Norway), Lena Maria Perssson Löfgren (Radio Sweden), Alexandrina Yelagina (The New Times, Russia), Yegor Skovoroda (Mediazone, Russia), Mikhail Solunin (a blogger from Russia), Anton Prusakov (writing for Kommersant, Russia), Ivan Zhil’tsov (Russia’s Committe against Torture press secretary), Yekaterina Vanslova (Russia’s Committee against Torture lawyer), Bashir Pliyev (bus driver).

Human rights defenders, who were accompanying a group of journslists, departed from Ingushetia to the Chechen capital Grozny late in the evening on 9 March. The journalists were going to cover the court trial in Grozny that saw Nikolai Karpyuk and Stanislav Klykh, both Ukrainian nationals, tried on charges of fighting in Chechnya during the first Chechen war. Oisted Vindstad, a journalist from Norway, was also investigating a story of two ethnic Chechens who were refused political asylum in Norway, deported from Norway and later died in Chechnya (102). 

The journalists arrived in Grozny on 7 March in a Volkswagen minubus rented by the United Mobile Group. They had been followed for two days since their arrival. As Yekaterina Skovoroda recalled, “We were followed by a black Mercedez (666 on its license plate) and a metallic Lada Priora (license plate B 504-AT, 95 region)” (103). B. Pliyev, the driver, later recalled that the minibus was followed on 9 March starting at the outskirts of Karabulak, where the United Mobile Group headquarters are located. At around 7pm (7:30 pm, according to Ingushetia's Interior Ministry) the minibus was overcome by three cars. The incident occurred at a distance of 500 metres to the traffic police checkpoint at the administrative border dividing Ingushetia and Chechnya. The minibus was pulled to the side of the road. Around 20-25 people wearing masks emerged from the cars. They smashed the Volkswagen's windows with sticks then pulled people from the minibus and beat them. All of the attackers spoke Russian with a strong Chechen accent. 

The victims did not perceive beatings to be selective. Those in the front part of the minibus suffered most, includign the driver and foreign journalists. The attackers shouted at B. Pliyev, “You're the one driving terrorists. You're helping terrorists. And we are fighting terrorism!” At the same time, the attackers seemed to be willing to target foreign journalists more than anyone else (104). They seized laptops, telephones, notebooks and other personal belongings from journalists. Two of the journalists ended up losing their Ids. One of them had the Ids stolen along with other personal belongings, while the documents of the other one were destroyed when the attackers set fire to the Volkswagen bus.

The incident developed quickly. After they were done with the beatings, the attackers pulled the bus down to a cave, set it on fire and left. The victims spent some time at the side of the road. Some time later, Ingush police arrived. After a few hours, Ingush Interior Minister A. Trofimov and a team of investigators arrived at the scene of the crime. (105)

Oistan Vindstad, Lena Maria Persson Lefgren, Yekaterina Vanslova and Bashir Pliyev were all taken to the Trauma Department of the Sunzha Central District Hospital at the village of Sunzha (formerly known as Odzhonikidzevskaya Village), Ingushetia. They were all diagnosed with traumatic brain injury and grade 1 brain concussion. Lena Maria Persson Lefgren had also received a leg wound. Oistan Vindstad had scars. Both were treated for wounds. (106) 

Bashir Pliyev received the most severe injuries. His arm and legs were broken, he had numerous hematomas and scars and a severe traumatic brain injury. Also, Pliyev's own minibus, that was paid for with a bank loan and his only income source, was destroyed. The volunteers later raised money for Pliyev to buy a new minibus and pay for Pliyev's medical treatment and rehabilitation. Of 1,6 m rubles 500,000 rubles came from the Committee against Torture and 250,000 from Open Russia (107). 

On the same evening, there happened an attack on the United Mobile Group office in Karabulak. It is located at a newly-built two-storey house in the village of Yandara, at the outskirst of Karabulak, and quite near to Chechnya. That office was a result of a relocation that happened after the destruction of their office in the centre of Grozny in June 2015. The attackers, who were at least eight armed men wearing masks, approached the building in five cars. There was no-one at the office at the moment of the attack. Having failed to open the front door, the attackers used the balcony to get inside. They destroyed cameras in the office and the router that provided direct video connection with the Committee against Torture head office in Nizhny Novgorod. (108)

The initial reaction of the authorities to the news of the crime sounded promising enough. On 10 March Vladimir Putin asked the Interior Ministry, “in connection with the hooligan attack on human rights defendes and journalists” in Ingushetia to investigate the circumstances of what happened and provide legal evaluation of the incident. (109) Interior Minister Vladimir Kolokol'tsev immediately responded to the task set by the President. He requested the head of the Interior Ministry Division in the North Caucasus Federal District Sergei Chenchik and Ingush Interior Minister Alexander Trofimov to take exhaustive measures to detain the attackers. (110) Presidential spokesman Dmitry Peskov condemned the incident saying, “It is absolutely outrageous. It's absolutely an act of hooliganism. We gather that the lives of those people were endangered. This is absolutely unacceptable.” Peskov said that the Kremlin counted on the Federal and regional law-enforcement agencies to “take the most effective measures in order for those guilty of the attack to be located and detained.” (111)

On the next day, 11 March, Presidential Representative in the North Caucasus Federal District S. Melikov, had the following to say at the opening of a meeting of security ministries: “The situation is under special control. We are following the investigation progress. Law-enforcement agencies heads were tasked accordingly. We are in ongoing contact with the Presidential Council on Civil Society and Human Rights. Our joint efforts will be directed towards identifying and bringing to justice those responsible for the incident.” (112) 

The Sunzha District Police Station initially opened an investigation into ”An Act of Hooliganism Committed by a Group of Persons” (Article 213, Part 2, of the Russian Criminal Code) and into ”Wishful Destruction of Other People's Property” (Article 167 of the Code). However, on 12 March the investigation was opened also on a charge of “Robbery Committed by a Group of People by Previous Concert, As Well As with the Use of Weapons or Objects Used as Weapons” (Article 162, Part 2 of the Code). 

From that moment, the crime was in effect classified as a severe one, and the victims and the journalist and human rights community welcomed the inclusion of the charges of robbery into the investigation process. 

However, the investigation soon appeared to have halted, the victims said. 2 April, 2016, the Ministry of Interior Affairs of the Russian Federation told the Presidential Council on Civil Society and Human Rights that “at the initial stage of investigation, considerable efforts were put into investigating and search, however, it appeared to be impossible to identify the persons who committed the crime.” (114) On 24 March the investigation responsibility was placed in the hands of the Investigative Committee of the Republic of Ingushetia because “the actions of the attackers are seen as indicating the crime under Article 144, Part 3, of the Criminal Code of the Russian Federation (“Obstruction of the Lawful Professional Activity of Journalists, Accompanied by Violence with Respect to Journalists and by Damage or Destruction of Their Property”)” and these cases fall under the auspices of the Investigative Committee. 

On 30 March the Ingush Investigative Committee reported on the first outcome of the work. The officials said a new criminal investigation had been opened under Article 144, Part 3, of the Criminal Code, and that investigation was now merged with the casefiles of the investigation that opened earlier by Ingushetia's Interior Ministry. (115) Initial procedural and investigative steps were taken as part of the criminal investigation. The investigators and criminal investigators, using specialised equipment, thouroghly examined the scene of the incident. All of those injured were officially declared victims and were questioned in line with the procedure envisioned in the Russian Federation criminal procedure legislation. Medical examination of the victims was conducted as well. (116)

In early May some of the victims (Yegor Skovoroda and Anton Prusakov) said they were not satifsfied with neither the direction nor pace of the investigation. They also said they were not being kept up to date on the investigation by the officials. (117)

On 3 June human rights activists that included Igor Kalyapin, the Committee Against Torture head, and Mikhail Fedotov, the Chairman of the Presidential Council on Civil Society and Human Rights, met Ingush President Yunus-Bek Yevkurov and stated “lack of progress in investigation.” Kalyapin said that “procedural orders of the investigators given by the Ingush Interior Ministry are not acted upon. The case will finally fall apart, and statements will be made to the effect that the Ingush Interior Ministry and the Ingush Investigative Committee were unable to tackle the task. I believe this to be unfair. We understand all too well what happened. We understand very well where the attackers came from and I believe that it is not the Ingush agencies that should be held accountable for lack of effective investigation.” (118) Kalyapin offered President Yevkurov to write a joint petition to the North Caucasus District Investigative Committee to be put in charge of the investigation in order for all the orders regarding the investigation to originate from the District Committees headquarters in Pyatigorsk. The President of Ingushetia, who is known to usually be supportive of human rights defenders, responded to the offer in a worried manner asking Kalyapin not to make him clash with Chehnya's Ramazan Kadyrov and for the Committee against Torture to stop using Ingushetia as a base for its work in Chechnya. Yevkurov also said, “If you have a strong opinion that the *siloviki* from Chechnya were the ones who came here and burst into the flat, then it's just not true. They didn't come from Chechnya, no doubt about that. Where did they come from? It's up to the investigators to find out.” (119)

*

A few days after the incident with the minibus, on 16 March Igor Kalyapin, head of the Committee Against Torture and member of the Presidential Human Righst Council, was attacked in Grozny. Kalyapin was demanded to leave the Grozny City hotel. Here is how Kalyapin described what happened: “There appeared a man aged about 60 who said he was the hotel director general, a security guard in black and a middle-aged man. The director told me, 'You criticise Chechnya's head and the Chechen Police, and I love Ramzan Akhmatovich [Kadyrov] very much. That's why you should leave the hotel.' I told him his action was illegal. I asked him to request me in writing to leave the hotel for my lack of love of Ramzan Kadyrov. He said, 'You'd better look for fools by looking at the mirror.'” (120)

When Kalyapin left the hotel, he was attacked by about fifteen men in the street. They knocked him down, threw two dozens eggs at him, threw some flour and a solution of the brilliant green antiseptic. After the attack Kalyapin left for the Stavropol' Region. (121)

A Ukrainian consul was also injured in the attack because he stood next to Kalyapin. The consul was in Grozny on a business trip to participate in the court trial of Ukrainian citizens Karpyukh and Klykh (122). 

“The attack on the member of the Presidential Human Rights Council, something which certainly follows up on a rather dangerous attack by hooligans earlier on the border with Ingushetia, shows a very dangerous trend that, undoubtedly, is a source of concern,” Russian President's spokesman Dmitry Peskov said (123). However, the outcome of the investigation into Kalyapin incident as well as the attack on the minibus were negligible. 

# ”Independence” of the Chechen Justice System. Verdict in Karpyuk and Klykh Trial

In late May 2016 a notable court trial that lasted for nine months drew to a close. Standing the trial were two Ukrainian nationals, Nikolai Karpyuk and Stanislav Klykh. They were both charged with participation in the first Chechen war, and also mentioned as involved in the war were prominent politicians, including Arseny Yatsenyuk. 

The defendants wrote confessions during the preliminary investigation but later said they were forced to do so by torture. No other evidence was presented in the casefile – the confessions of those charged and a dubious witness account were all the investigation had to substantiate the charges. There was no persuasive evidence confirming either Karpyuk or Klykh had ever been to Chechnya before the trial began in September 2015. 

also important is the fact that both Ukrainians were tried for their alleged participation in fighting, an offence that thousands of residents of Chechnya could be accused of – this is something that the Chechens in the court room at the very first hearing discussed quietly. Meanwhile, one of the building blocks of stability under Kadyrov was the fact that the President is seen as a safeguard against possible persecution “for the war.” The indictment would have cast doubts over those guarantees and the stability. 

The court decided to ignore the arguments put forward by the defence. Most of the defence attorneys motions were declined during the trial. Sometimes, the court even refused to hear the arguments. The court de facto sided with the prosecution by sentencing the defendants to prison terms proposed by the prosecutor. 

On 26 May 2016, the Supreme Court of the Chechen Republic reached the verdict in the trial of Ukrainain citizens, Nikolai Karpyuk and Stanislav Klykh. Karpyuk was sentenced to 22 years and 6 months' imprisonment in a colony of strict regiment. , and Klykh was sentenced to 20 years' imprisonment in a colony of strict regiment. (124) Karpyuk and Klykh were detained in 2014 and indicted (214) on charges of banditry (Article 209 of the RSFSR Criminal Code) and homicide of two or more persons (Article 102 of the RSFSR Criminal Code). The prosecution said that both men were members of UNA-UNSO,  a organisation banned in Russia, and that in late 1994 and early 1995 they both participated in the Viking Gang in the military action against the Russian federal forces alongside armed units of the self-declered Chechen Republic of Ichkeria, killing thirty Russian soldires. 

The trial was presided over by Judge Vakhit Ismailov. Klykh's defence attorney was Marina Dubrovina. Karpyuk's defence attorneys were Dokka Itslayev and Ilya Novikov. The Memorial Human Righst Centre had been monitoring the progress of the trial (126) and produced a thorough analysis (127) of the indictment proving it was a mix of unsubstantiated allegations, careless wording, and direct falsifications. The analysis of the indictment led to both Nikolai Karpyuk and Stanislav Klykh being declared political prisoners by the Memorial Human Rights Centre. 

The court trial including a jury. 

Witnesses for the defence testified  at the trial starting March 2016. For example, on 9 March Memorial Human Rights Centre Chairman Alexander Cherkasov spoke to the jurors for about half an hour (128). His speech had several times been interrupted by the Judge who also declined some of the defence questions and refused to make the Memorial HRC analysis of the indictment part of the court trial file saying he felt indignation by the fact the indictment was being discussed outside court. 

Later the court found lawful earlier refusal to open a criminal investigation into Karpyuk's complaints of torture during the preliminary investigation (129). 

The hearings that followed saw interrogations of the defence witnesses from Ukraine who provided numerous proofs of Karpyuk and Klykh's alibis. The Judge, however, refused to make the Ukrainian  documents proving the defendants's alibis part of the court file (130). 

The attorneys' attempts to request the court to consider the files providing details of the circumstances leading to deaths of the Russian soldiers allegedly killed by Klykh and Karpyuk and for the jurors to hear some of the investigation files proved unsuccessful.  (131)

Finally, the attorneys Itslayev, Dubrovina nd Novikov spoke to the jurors and the defendants Karpyuk and Klykh made their last word (132). 

The eight questions put forward by the Judge to the jury contained some mixed-up ideas and vague wording. However, the attorneys attempts to explain to the jurors the often preposterous character of the questions failed. On 19 May the jurors unanimously responded “guilty” to all of the questions and said both defendants did not deserve leniency. 

Immediately after the verdict was delivered on 29 May Judge Ismailov issued warnings to Attorney Marina Dubrovina and Dokka Itslayev for “committing the actions that discredit the honour of the attorney” during the trial. 

*

What is behind the disciplined verdict pronounced by the grand jury and the judge? One may wish to consider a row that emerged exactly as the Karpyuk and Klykykh's trial was drawing to a close.

The extent to which the justice system in Chechnya is not independent impresses observers even in comparision with the gloomy situation in the rest of Russia. The courts, akin to other institutions, experience direct inteference from representatives of the republic's executive including President Kadyrov. The verdict that contradicts the view of the President of Chechnya is never final and the acquittal in court (no matter how innocent the defendant really is) does not guarantee freedom from persecution (134). President Kadyrov might have heard about the divison of powers, the independence of the judiciary, and irremovability of judges, but he does not feel himself bound by those obligations. It is possible for him to publicly criticise judges for a verdict he disagrees with (135) or publicly demand that the Chairman of the Supreme Court step down.

On 5 May speaking in a meeting with the Chechen Republic Supreme Court members and federal district judges Kadyrov crticised the Chechen judges for “unobjective verdicts.” In particulare, there was an “outrageous episode,” Kadyrov said in his Instagram post, “involving a wanted member of an illegal armed unit, whom the court declared missing” (136). Kadyrov suggested that the Chairman of the Chechen Supreme Court  Magomed Karatayev and the three judges, “should they have an understanding of what honour and professional ethics mean” to “sign resignations and voluntarily step down from their offices.”

The Russian President's spokesman Dmitry Peskov, commenting on Kadyrov's statement, did not regard it as an attempt to pressure the court. Peskov said, “Any head of a Russian Federation subject is entitled to make his opinion heard. This is not a pressure on the court in terms of some sort of trial. (137).

In the meanwhile, it emerged that Judge Karatayev had to relocate his family moving them outside Chechnya. It happened after 6 May, a day after Kadyrov's public statement, the Judge refused to step down saying that the Chechen President had been mislead (138).

Ten days later, on 16 May the Chechen authorities made public Karatayev's confession (139). He acknowledge his personal responsibility for the mistakes made by Chechnya's judiciary and resigned the office. In the same statement, Karatayev swore his alegience to President Kadyrov and said media reports on his situation were false. He even threatened to sue *Novaya Gazeta* that published a lengthy investigative article on 12 May on the situation in the Chechen justice system and ongoing intervention of the executive authority in the work of the courts (140). *Novaya Gazeta* provided further details on Kadyrov's 5 May meeting with the judges. It emerged that “unobjective” verdicts that Judge Karatayev was supposedly guilty of had been cancelled by the Chechen Supreme Court a long while ago. Also, judges Husayinov, Yandarov, Murdalov and Karatayev were detained immediately after the meeting was over and were held till they signed their resignations. The three district judges were relived from their posts by the Chechen Qualification Bar but it turned out that Karatayev's resignation could only be authorised by the Russian Federation Bar. The judges wrote a letter to the Russian Supreme Court Chairman Lebedev, but legally speaking their letter is null and void. 

Armed illegal units in the North Caucasus in spring 2016

There was a low degree of activity on part of the terrorist underground units. In 2012—2015 losses among security officers were on the decrease, but a number of security operations remained high. Last spring, in contrast, the number of security operations was not high, but the losses increased compared to the previous year. These losses are accounted for by just a few clashes with terrorist fighters.

Three terrorist attacks happened in Dagestan on 29 and 30 March. In these, powerful explosives were used.

The first two blasts came on 29 March at 20.10 on 831 km of the Caucaus federal highway in the vicinity of Novy Khushet village. The incident happened as a convoy of the temporary security group of the Russian Interior Ministry was moving along the road. An Ural armoured truck and an Uaz-Patriot off-road vehicle were destroyed, killing one and injuring two policemen that had been transferred to the region from Krasnoyarsk. 

On the following day, 30 March, there was a more powerful explosion in the Tabasaransky District, Dagestan, near the village of Sirtych. The police attempted to stop a Vaz-2110 car at a traffic police checkpoint. As the police car approached the vehicle with two persons there was a blast, killing a policemen and injuring another. (141)

An odd attack happened on 11 April on the Novoselitsky district police station, Stavropol Region. Three suicide fighters encountered resistance and threw two grenades killing themselves without injuring anyone else (vide **Stavropol Shakhids** part of the present bulletin). 

Late in the evening of 20 April a group of up to 12 armed fighters attacked a village of Dzhuly, Tattasaransky District, Dagestan, setting fire on an old school building and robbing a food store. The fighters left without infuring anyone (142). 

On 9 May two fighters attacked a checkpoint on the outskirts of the Alkhan-Kala village in Grozny suburbs. One of the fighters exploded a device that killed him and injured six policemen transferred from Bashkorostan. Another fighter was killed (vide *Chechnya, burnt houses...* in the present bulletin).

On 14 May in Derbent in the course of storming a flat with figthers two policemen were killed. One of them was head of the Derbent police, Captain Musa Musayev. He was taken hostage by the fighters. Another policemen who died was Victor Timofeyev, police captain transferred from the Tyumen Region. (143) A district police station head and a head of the inspectors' unit were injured. Also infjured were twelve officers who supported the operation. On the same day, the so-called Islamic State, a terrorist organisation banned in Russia, took the responsibility for the attack. The fighting began when three policemen came under terrorsts' fire while searching gunmen involved in the murder of former Derbent mayor's father (9 May). The flat where the gunmen were hiding was sieged and a security operation began. (144)

Spokesmen for the security agencies say a group of gunmen acting under cover were neutralised on 21 May in Ingushetia, with four people detained. The search revealed four large stores of arms containing machine gunes, self-made explosive devices and ammunition. (145) One of the detained was an acting police officer who had long experience working on the stragegically important transport facility, the Magas airport. (It is important to note that another police officer, a captain of Dagestani police, was killed among other fighters in Khunzakhsky District, Dagestan, in March 2016) (146). Five days later, 26 May, the security officers tried to detain five persons in Ingushetia who offered resistance and were killed. Brothers Usman and Vakha (Zurab) Tsoloyevy were klled at the Barsuki village cemetry and brothers Adam and Anzor Mestoyevy were killed on the highway near the city of Nazran. In Nazran Khizir Galayev was killed at a car garage. The families of those killed claim they were innocent while the authorities including Ingush President Yunus-Bek Yevkurov say they were all members of a “sleeping” terrorist network (147).

Security services losses in the zone of conflict in the North Caucasus, spring 2016

	
	March
	April
	May
	Total

	
	Killed
	Wounded
	Killed
	Wounded
	Killed
	Wounded
	Killed
	Wounded

	Chechnya
	
	
	
	
	
	6
	
	6

	Ingushetia
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Dagestan
	2
	4
	
	2
	2
	15
	4
	21

	Kabardino-Balkariya
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total
	2
	4
	
	2
	2
	21
	4
	27


The losses among the security forces personnel (4 killed and 2 wounded) are much higher compared to spring 2015 (with 3 killed and 3 wounded). However, turning to the data availalble for the previous years (12 killed and 30 wounded in spring 2014 and 27 killed and 87 wounded in spring 2013, 57 killed and 77 wounded in spring 2012), it would be too early to report a trend of increased human losses. 

European Court of Human Rights Judgements

Last spring, the European Court of Human Righst, or ECHR, delivered just one judgement in a case filed by a North Caucasus resident. However, Gaysanova v. Russia is peculiar in a sense that it concern a comparatively recent even invovling an abduction of a Danish Refugee Council employee Zarema Gaysanova in autumn 2009 in Chechnya under Ramzan Kadyrov's presidency. 

The applicant's interesests were represented by lawyers of the Memorial Human Rights Centre and the European Hurman Rights Advocacy Centre (London). Lawyers of the United Mobile Group of Human Rights Defenders in Chechnya were responsible for domestic litigation. 

The applicant in the case was Lida Gaysanova, Zarema's mother. Zarema Gaysanova, born 1969, lived in Ingushetia with her mother while reconstruction was underway at their private house in Grozny (located at 2nd Darwin Pereulok 7) that had been damaged during the Chechen war. Another house, smaller in size, was in the backyard of the main house. It remained intact during the war and Zarema used to stay there while she was on business in Grozny. It was that smaller house where she was on the night of 31 October 2009. 

On the evening of 31 October 2009 a neighbour from Grozny phoned Lida Gaysanova to say that her Grozny house had been surrounded and shelled by armed persons. As a result, the house caught fire and was completely destroyed, while Zarema was seized by the armed persons, pushed into an Uaz car and taken away in an unknown direction, the neighbour said. After the fire fighters put off the fire, a man's dead body was recovered from the rubble. 

On the same evening of 31 October Chechen Republican television station reaported that a security operation had taken place in the vicinity of a house in the 2nd Darwin Pereulok and a gunman had been killed. Lida Gaysanova, who saw the TV report, could recongise her house. The Chechen Interior Ministry website statement said that the killed gunman turned out to be Ali Khasanov, a resident of Goyty village and an “emir of the town of Argun and the lowland parts of the republic,” who was close to Doku Umarov, the leader of the fighters. The Interior Ministry statement also said Ramzan Kadyrov had been personally in charge of the security operation on the scene. Neither the Interior Ministry nor the state-run media said anything about Zarema Gaysanova's fate. 

On the same evening, Lida Gaysanova arrived in Grozny and reported her daughter's abduction to the Leninsky District police station. The head of the police station said he knew nothing about Zarema Gaysanova's fate and took no further steps to locate her. Later, the dates of the application file and questioning of the applicant, Lida Gaysanova, were falsified in order to cover up the police negligence. A separate investigation with that regard took place, showing the dates to be falsified. However, no people responsible for falsification were identified.

It was only on 16 November 2009 when the prosecutor's office opened a criminal investigation into Zarema Gaysanova's abudction. Lida Gaysanova was summoned to the Leninsky Interdistrict investigative department where Magmoved Tamayev, in charge of investigating the case, told her that Zarema was alive but “unavailable to us”. In Novermber and December 2009 the investigator sent numerous applications and letters to local police stations, interdistrict investigative departments, medical establishments and other organisations in the Chechen Republic in order to obtain further information on Zarema Gaysanova's fate. The letters and applications were often left without response or responded to belatedly. The investigator also interrogated witnesses including the workers who were renovating Gaysanovs house. The workers could confirm that Zarema Gaysanova was on her property on 31 October. Gaysanovs' neighbours stated that she was seized at 17:30 when the house was under complete control of the security forces. 

The investigators did not question Ramzan Kadyrov who was in charge of the seucurity operation because of his “tight schedule.” When the questioning finally took place, the investigators could not obtain any information of value to the investigation. Interrorgation of the Interior Ministry officers who took part in the operation added little to the overall picture. They said they had arrived at 2nd Darwin Pereulok to check reports that a member of an illegal armed unit was hiding there. A granade was thrown at the officers and they opend fire. As a result, there was a fire killing the suspected fighter. 

The representatives of the authorities could not explain what had possibly happened to Zarema Gaysanova. The criminal case file has no indication she had been indicted on any charges. The investigation could not explain how the fighter found himself hiding in the 2nd Darwin Pereulok house. However, the case file allow the supposition that Zarema was suspected of being an illegal armed unit fighter's partner. 

The investigation was stopped and reopened several times, with Zarema Gaysanova's whereabouts and fate still unknown. 

The ECHR held the Russian authorities responsible for the abduction and likely death of Zarema Gaysanova. The Court found the violation of Article 2 (right to life), Article 3 (prohibition of torture and violent treatment ) and Article 5 (right to freedom and personal ) of he European Human Rights Convention. The Court awarded a just compensation of EUR 60,000 to the applicant. 
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�	Grozny television channel, 21 May 2016. � HYPERLINK "../../Sergei Danilin/iCloudDrive/bull2.odt/ http://grozny.tv/news.php%3Fid=13074"�� http://grozny.tv/news.php?id=13074�.


�	Grozny television channel, 8 June 2016. � HYPERLINK "../../Sergei Danilin/iCloudDrive/bull2.odt/ http://grozny.tv/news.php%3Fid=13074"�� http://grozny.tv/news.php?id=13074�.


�	Grozny-Inform news agency, 13 May 2016. � HYPERLINK "http://www.grozny-inform.ru/news/politic/72437/"��http://www.grozny-inform.ru/news/politic/72437/�


�	Idem.





Этот материал выпущен МОО ПЦ "Мемориал", который внесен в реестр, предусмотренный ст. 13.1.10 ФЗ 
"Об НКО". Мы обжалуем это решение.

